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To the women who came before


To those who lead ahead


To my family with all my love


All that I am and will be, I owe to you.















INTRODUCTION



It was day 25 for me at the Palais Coburg—July 12, 2015. Since the middle of June, inside the white, neoclassical wedding cake of a hotel on Theodor Herzl Platz in Vienna, two exhausted sets of negotiators—one, my team of Americans; the other, from the Islamic Republic of Iran—had been hashing over the last contested passages of the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA)—more commonly known as the Iran nuclear deal. Its 110 pages, including five complex technical annexes, laid out a path to peaceful resolution of Iran’s ambition to have a nuclear weapon.


My team had arrived in Vienna in June to get our feet on the ground before the talks engaged ministers, thinking we’d be home by the Fourth of July. We were now nearly two weeks past our deadline.


The Coburg isn’t a bad place for a diplomat to spend a few weeks, it must be said. It lies in the heart of Vienna, where in 1815 the Congress of Vienna—the first real instance of multilateral diplomacy—codified the formal ranks of ambassadors, envoys, and ministers that we still use today. Built in the 1840s as a residence for an Austrian prince, the Coburg has a seemingly endless supply of high-ceilinged meeting rooms adorned with massive portraits of royalty and isolated nooks where, during a break in talks, two adversaries hell-bent on convincing the other can duck in for an impromptu sidebar. The Coburg staff is impeccably discreet (though in a town known as much for its spies as for its diplomats, one never wants to put that discretion to the test). We had plenty of company; the Coburg is popular with Russian oligarchs and their white fur–clad companions as well as with diplomats from around the world coming and going from UN Office Vienna, the sprawling United Nations campus a few miles away across the Danube. The curving, concrete towers of the complex, though taller, are reminiscent of the Watergate, the famous apartments near my office at the State Department, back home in Washington.


The Coburg’s staff, its colorful guests, and its proximity to the UN campus weren’t the only reasons it was chosen as the meeting place for the final weeks of the Iran nuclear talks. The surrounding roofs overlooking Theodor Herzl Platz provide plenty of vantages for government sharpshooters, making the Coburg a very secure location.


For all its charm and perfectly pitched roofs, the Coburg by day 25 had become a prison. Never mind that I had eaten precisely one meal outside of the hotel in nearly a month, or that I was two weeks past the stay I had packed for. Every available rod and rack in my hotel suite’s bathroom was hung with hand-washed laundry.


Out on the square, press from all over the world were huddled at the hotel’s entrance, the forest of antennas on the television crews’ vans imposing a jarring bit of the modern age on Vienna’s old city. Most of the reporters had been there as long as we had, and they could sense in the past few days that the two sides’ intensity had picked up, our updates having become vaguer as we edged closer to our final positions. They were counting down to a historic deal to “keep the mullahs from getting the bomb,” according to the New York Times.


They weren’t the only ones waiting. On June 27, US Secretary of State John Kerry, still on crutches from falling off his bicycle in Geneva a month before, had flown in to meet his Iranian counterpart, Foreign Minister Javad Zarif—who himself had just arrived from a quick visit to Tehran, where, it was believed, he’d gotten clearance from the Supreme Leader to finalize the deal.


On their heels came the foreign ministers of the other world powers (known as the P5+1)* who would be involved in the deal—Wang Yi of China, Laurent Fabius of France, Frank-Walter Steinmeier of Germany, Sergey Lavrov of Russia, Philip Hammond of the United Kingdom, and Federica Mogherini of the European Union—all wanting to be on hand in case the end was as close as it looked.


For all the excitement, the agreement was still a tangle of interlocking issues: how to verify Iran’s compliance, how to best limit numbers and types of centrifuges, how to “snap back” economic sanctions should Iran fail to live up to the agreement. None of these issues could be solved independently of the others. When one element of the deal was changed, everything else had to be recalculated, and everyone had to be consulted. Then the new information had to be brought to our P5+1 partners and often renegotiated, then back to the Iranians to hash over the same points again. Besides diplomats and technical experts, we had legal opinions from batteries of government lawyers. One session in the final monthlong gauntlet at the Coburg went from early evening until 3:00 a.m. as two sets of lawyers clashed over every word of a single passage.


The best way to describe the negotiation was as the world’s most complex and consequential Rubik’s Cube. The more you twisted one side to line it up, the more the other sides needed fixing. “No single part of the deal is done until it’s all done,” I’d tell the press when they asked about what issues were still outstanding. I used the Rubik’s Cube comparison so many times, in fact, that one of the technical experts on our team designed his own version, with key phrases from the talks on each colored square. It was such a hit that I had several of them made as keepsakes for members of the team, one of which now sits as an artifact of the negotiation in the Diplomacy Center at the State Department.


When the June 30 deadline passed without a deal, we had extended it. A few more days turned into a week. Then, as one week turned into two, the pressure inside the Coburg cranked higher and higher. The ministers milled around the halls and conference rooms with their squads of aides, unhappy to be stalled here in Vienna, quietly resenting the fact that nothing would be final until Kerry—and President Obama back in DC—said it was, and not quite understanding why we still hadn’t reached a deal.
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It’s not a stretch to say that Vienna, for all its illustrious history as a diplomatic city, had never seen a negotiation quite like this one. Our spell at the Coburg had already broken records—the longest sustained international deliberations, the longest an American secretary of state (or an Iranian one for that matter) had spent in one place. A dialogue that had begun at the United Nations in 2002 as an effort to convince Iran to stop enriching uranium to weapons-grade purity had transmogrified into an entrenched confrontation between the revolutionary government in Tehran and the five permanent members of the UN Security Council (the aforementioned P5), plus Germany (+1). Convened by the high representative of the European Union, the P5+1 talks had become, by the time we reached the Coburg, a de facto bilateral negotiation between Iran and its nemesis, the United States.


Since I joined the talks, after being appointed undersecretary of state for political affairs in 2011, I had led the American team as we wound through Moscow, Baghdad, Istanbul, and Almaty, the remote former capital of Kazakhstan, then back to the traditional diplomatic sites of Geneva, Lausanne, and Vienna. Just before Thanksgiving of 2013, we had arrived at an interim agreement, the Joint Plan of Action, with the expectation that we’d have a final understanding within six months. When six months passed without a conclusion, both sides still held out enough hope that we continued through two more extensions, despite testy disavowals from Tehran and Washington, multiple crises of confidence, raised voices, and, in an unprecedented and completely accidental lapse of diplomatic protocol, a pen sent flying across the table, striking the Iranian lead negotiator.


During this intense time, I had blown past some deadlines of my own. In late May, I had officially announced my retirement from the State Department, effective at the end of the negotiations. At the time, it had seemed reasonable that the talks would wrap up in time for me to accept a fellowship in the fall at Harvard, split between the Kennedy School’s Institute of Politics and the Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs. My first study group was slated for shortly after Labor Day. But as the Iran talks dragged on, that start date was tossed out—even if we got a deal, I’d be selling it to Congress until at least the middle of September.


I wasn’t the only one on edge. The toll on everyone was enormous. In the weeks since we’d arrived in Vienna, no one had slept much. There were middle-of-the-night video conferences with the White House and “memcons”—memoranda of conversations that we wrote every night describing the day’s deliberations for review by the president and cabinet officials. Early morning Vienna time, before the negotiating sessions, we read the intelligence reports that had come in the previous night. Then, all day and into the evening, we sat with our counterparts on the other P5+1 teams, going over every sentence of the agreement and getting prepared for the negotiating sessions with the Iranians themselves.


Apart from the grueling nature of the negotiations, we’d been separated from our loved ones for weeks at a time over the previous years, missing anniversaries, birthdays, and holidays. We’d flown twenty hours to the far side of the globe to achieve very little, endured a sandstorm while trying to get out of Baghdad, improvised meals to fit our religious and food allergy diets, and carried on a poor imitation of our personal lives via smartphone and Skype. We were all ready for life to return to some version of normal.


On July 12, I had arranged to meet the Iranian lead negotiator, Abbas Araghchi, and his partner, Majid Takht-Ravanchi, to discuss the UN resolution laying out the terms of the deal and the limits on ballistic missiles, arms transfers, and other matters that, while not part of the nuclear deal proper, had to be formalized in a resolution that would replace more than a decade’s worth of UN resolutions on these same topics. With a new resolution summing up the deal’s provisions, the long effort to rein in Iran’s nuclear ambitions, which had begun in the Security Council in the early 2000s, would come full circle.


The resolution had always been held out as the last piece of major business precisely because the Security Council partners themselves were not agreed about what exactly it would contain. The United States considered the restrictions on missiles and arms critical. Russia and China, believers in the free transfer of arms and the development of missile technology, didn’t want to impose constraints on Iran. Knowing it would be contentious, the partners had arranged to dispose of the resolution only as the rest of the deal was almost ready to be signed. If anyone dug in their heels over these points, they would have to do so when everyone was watching, waiting to go home. That leverage, we figured, would force the parties to find a compromise.


The previous day I had hand-drawn a grid on a ripped piece of notebook paper, laying out the final key elements—the possible limits on missiles and conventional arms, the duration of those limits, and what the sanctions would be for violating them. After dinner on the twenty-fifth day, I met Araghchi and Ravanchi in a private dining room at the Coburg. I put my grid of acceptable formulas in the middle of a small, round table.


As always, Araghchi wore a dark suit with a tieless shirt, in the Iranian style. Fluent in English, an expert in the details of producing nuclear fuel, Araghchi was armed most of all with a steely, determined calm that could be very unnerving to those of us sitting across the table from him. By Araghchi’s side, as always, was Ravanchi. Like their boss, Foreign Minister Zarif, the Iranian lead negotiators had been educated in the West—Araghchi in England and Ravanchi at the University of Kansas and in Switzerland. Both had spent their careers in the Iranian foreign service. The difference between them, as we understood it, was that Araghchi had been present in the first days of the Iranian revolution in 1979, when Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini had toppled the Shah, and so had the better revolutionary bona fides of the two. Ravanchi, on the other hand, was closer to Zarif, and his opinion was crucial to getting the deal to closure. Equally knowledgeable and equally committed to the revolution, both wore their intransigence like a badge of credibility.


Beside me sat my deputy, Rob Malley, on loan from his position as special White House coordinator for the Middle East, North Africa and Gulf Region. Slight of build and balding on top, Rob is about the sweetest, smartest, most Zen dad I know. He had been a constant and comforting presence since I drafted him a few weeks before from the National Security Council at the White House. Thanks to an upbringing in Paris and his virtually native French, we designated Rob as the “French whisperer,” specially assigned to stay close to the French delegation, which was intent on expressing its Gallic independence and would sometimes stray from the agreed-upon script. When trouble loomed, Rob’s calm demeanor had always steadied me.


As the meeting got under way, the two Iranians accepted one of the formulations I had set out in my chart. The limits they agreed to would meet the requirements of the president. Suddenly I felt that we were on the verge of success, where only hours before it had felt hopeless.


Then Araghchi sat forward. Before he could attend to the outline of the resolution, he said, there was another point that he wanted to discuss. He began to dispute a point that had been previously settled. This was a regular feature of the Iranian negotiation style: just as consensus seemed imminent, something would suddenly resurface to trouble the waters. We have given you what you want; now give us something of ours you’ve taken.


But at that moment I was out of patience. Too much was at stake as we stood on the precipice of a deal. With all that loomed outside the meeting room door, with the work we’d all done to get to this point, I found this last-minute gambit maddening.


“Abbas, enough,” I began. “You always want more. Here we are, past the deadline, facing a Congress soon to go on recess…”


I could hear that I had begun to yell, my resentment rising at the Iranians’ willingness, at this hour, to play tactical games. And to my frustration, my eyes began to well up with tears. This wasn’t the first time this had happened to me, but it was certainly the most inconvenient. I don’t know where the wires get crossed in my emotional constitution between fury and weeping. Women learn early in life that it’s not socially acceptable to get angry, so maybe my survival instinct throws in another, more disarming emotion to mask my ire. In any case, there was nothing I could do except ignore the tears rolling down my face and push forward. I told the Iranians of my own frustration, how their tactics had completely stalled my own plans. “I have no idea what I will do now, but more importantly, you are risking all we have worked to do.”


Araghchi and Ravanchi were stunned. They thought they had learned their way around me, but this weeping, viscerally direct Wendy was a person they hadn’t encountered. For the first time in months of tough negotiations, they were in mute disarray. Even Rob sat watching all our faces, not sure how to react.


I would never have planned to push back at Araghchi, or any adversary, with a teary venting session. I could hardly have expected them to take a personal rant as reason to withdraw from their position. But something in the sincerity of my frustration, the realness of the moment, broke through. Everything was at stake in this negotiation, my objection implied—lives that could be consumed in a nuclear battle, yes, but in truth each of our lives and all we had worked for.


After a long silent moment, Araghchi dismissed the objection he had raised. My tears were evidence enough that there was no more give, and we came to agreement on the language for the UN resolution. That tearful reckoning became the final, substantive turn of the Rubik’s Cube.
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Often, when I tell this story at speaking engagements, women come up to me afterward to say that they can relate to my tearful anger. While tears may seem to be a show of weakness—and it’s absolutely true that I wouldn’t list crying as an essential skill for women operating in the male-dominated diplomatic world—the fact is that when we are ourselves, even if that means letting our tears flow, we can be our most powerful. This is true whether we are negotiating a multilateral nuclear deal, a higher salary at a new job, or an issue in our personal lives. It’s true even when facing off against a culture like Iran’s, in which women are often treated as subordinates. That day in Vienna proved to me that it’s possible for us to be ourselves and still compete in a world that seems often to forbid us from doing so.


That central insight has shaped every lesson I’ve set out to include in this book. Negotiation cannot be reduced to a set of techniques or strategies that can be applied regardless of the situation or who is negotiating. We have to negotiate with the people in front of us, with their peculiarities, hunches, and particular interests, and we in turn have to bring our authentic selves to how we negotiate. The best negotiators rely not on stratagems or manipulation but on their own experiences. The best skill is to be able to recognize that body of experience and know how to access it and put it to work. This book grew out of the same approach. It tells much more than the story of how I came to negotiate one historic diplomatic agreement. Rather, it frames that story in my particular biography that put me in that position and got me through to success.


We should think of our skill set, in other words, as everything we’ve done that has formed our sense of judgment—our upbringing, our education, our early achievements, and our mistakes. In diplomacy, as we’ll see in the following pages, no time spent on a worthy goal is ever wasted. Life, in its unpredictability, always has something to teach us for the next step, the next job, the next relationship.


This doesn’t mean that we shouldn’t prepare ourselves for the particular job we want or take necessary steps toward our goals—we should. Indeed, in diplomacy, my colleagues who have expertise in specific regions and areas such as nuclear weapons and arms control are crucial and put in years to acquire such knowledge. We are at our best when we have the practical experience to take the opportunities that come along. But too much focus on hitting career goals can be limiting. When women ask me how I got to do the things I have done, they are often surprised to hear that I had no five-year plan for my life. As a young woman coming of political age during the civil rights movement, the women’s movement, and the marches against the Vietnam War, I would have laughed if someone had told me that I would sit opposite Iranians and negotiate a deal about nuclear weapons.


Instead, I got to where I am by rising to fill each role that came my way, including some I didn’t expect to do—the head of children’s welfare for my home state, the chief of staff to then-congresswoman Barbara Mikulski, and later Barbara’s campaign manager when she ran to become the first Democratic woman elected to the Senate in her own right. After a full career in domestic politics, I turned toward international diplomacy only when I received an out-of-the-blue call to join the State Department. As I grew into my new life as a diplomat, negotiating a missile deal with North Korea and ultimately serving as the first woman undersecretary for political affairs at the State Department, I couldn’t have survived on lessons from business books or political science classes. To tell the truth, my best guide was a core set of skills from a master’s in social work in community organizing that I had put to work at each turn in my life.


I leaned on my parents’ example of courage to act against the expectations of our times. I got to watch other women—colleagues and mentors—own their power and the power their country invested in them. I was exposed to cultures different from mine and learned the value of pulling people of very different backgrounds into a cohesive group. I had to face grave disappointments and circumstances that I couldn’t change and find a way to let go and move on. Some of the skills I’ve needed most I’ve gained in triumphant, even historic moments. Others I’ve learned in times of vulnerability, bewilderment, and loss.


I am also aware that I benefited repeatedly from exquisite timing—let’s call it luck—and the support of loved ones to make it all possible.
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I did eventually get to spend my two months at Harvard’s Institute of Politics. The subject of my seminar was “Negotiating Change: How We Took on Some of the World’s Toughest Problems and Sometimes Succeeded.” Everyone I met at Harvard was interested to know the ins and outs of the Iran negotiation—who said what and how we finally got to yes. More often, however, students and professors alike asked larger questions about how, why, and when any negotiation succeeds or fails. They challenged me to explain why diplomacy is still a useful tool in a world that increasingly seems to respect violence and ultimatums. Most simply asked me how I learned to do what I do. Liberated from the grind of absorbing technical details about uranium enrichment and intelligence reports, I had the chance to reflect deeply on what I’d accomplished and how.


My answers to the young people in my study group were frequently less about diplomatic best practices and more about what I brought to the negotiating table. I found myself explaining things I had always known on some level to be true but hadn’t articulated for myself: that the most important facets of the Iran deal were the higher principles we sought and the reimagining of the world that it took to make the deal happen. The deal was the result of our courage in setting it in motion and our persistence in seeing it through. It was anchored by a common wish to make peace and by the common ground we forged with those we negotiated with, and against. We had to use what we had learned about wielding power to change the world and knowing when change is simply not possible. These were all values that I’d grown up with and strengths I’ve developed along the way. We all have these homegrown skills and qualities, and we can use them throughout our lives, in our careers as well as in attaining our personal goals.


In the dark political era we’ve entered since I left Harvard, it’s increasingly important to know the deeper nature of negotiation. Leaders talk about the art of the deal and discredit the art of diplomacy, while achieving neither and misunderstanding both. Business sense, such as it is, is considered more valuable than political expertise. The fact is, whether you’re in politics or business, the world has now grown so complex that the diplomatic perspective has become indispensable to deal-making.


The contrast that we’re facing now in leadership is really between the autocrat and the diplomat. The diplomat weighs things and chooses words and actions carefully; the autocrat acts impulsively (sometimes at 6:00 a.m. on Twitter) without checks and balances. The diplomat is inclusive and expansive, the autocrat transactional and lacking in empathy. The diplomat understands that every decision is grounded in present and past history, with an obligation to the future; the autocrat sees only what’s in front of him and what’s at stake right now. The diplomat knows that every conversation, every negotiation, every action, is like a move on a giant chessboard that affects all other pieces; the autocrat simply tries to find a way out, the way a child scrawls all over a pizza parlor placemat puzzle with a blunt crayon.


That’s the type of leadership that has taken us to where we are now. In May 2018, President Trump pulled the United States out of the Iran deal, a decision that dealt a devastating blow not only to years of diplomacy but to our nation’s standing in the world and the world’s security. More than that, Trump’s decision ignored what long experience taught me: we control only so much in negotiations. Of course we have to be willing to walk away if a deal can’t be made, just as we need competence and hard work. But flexing our muscles is hardly the only way to a deal. To make a meaningful deal, we need to see our adversaries not as eternal enemies, or dispensable ones, but as virtual partners. We have to understand the nature of power before we can use it effectively and build a team that can get the job done. And perhaps most of all, we have to persist, to keep fighting for the same ideals that brought the agreement into existence in the first place. That is what this book is about.





* The United States uses the phrase “P5+1” to describe this negotiation, as defined in this text. The European Union, however, branded the talks the “E3+EU+3,” connoting the European countries Great Britain, France, and Germany plus the European Union plus China, Russia, and the United States. The P5+1 label as used in this text is inclusive of the European Union. The coordinating role of the European Union high representative and her team was essential to reaching the agreement.















chapter one



COURAGE


My father, a residential real estate broker with his own prosperous firm in northwest Baltimore, was attending Rosh Hashanah services at Baltimore Hebrew Congregation, our Reform synagogue on Park Heights Avenue in September 1963. It was a turbulent time for the synagogue, as it was for the country. The month before, Baltimore Hebrew’s longtime rabbi, Morris Lieberman, had been one of 200 civil rights protesters—six of them clergymen—to be arrested at Gwynn Oak Park, an amusement park just across the city line that refused entry to African Americans.


For Lieberman, the protest (which resulted in the integration of Gwynn Oak Park a few weeks later) was the latest in a series of civil rights actions he’d been involved in since helping to form the Clergymen’s Interfaith Committee on Human Rights a few years earlier. But the rabbi had never been arrested before, and on this High Holiday he went up to the pulpit to explain himself, recognizing that some in the congregation might object to a rabbi who sought out such notoriety.


Lieberman reminded his congregation that as a chaplain in World War II, he had walked through the concentration camps at Dachau after their liberation. Those scenes had made him wonder what the Christian clergy in Germany had done as the Jews were sent away. “What did they preach about on Christmas and Easter in those days?” he wondered. He then put the question to his congregation: could Jews stand by as black citizens of Baltimore were systematically discriminated against? Lieberman cited the Haggadah, the Passover story, which challenges Jews of every generation “to regard himself as though he, in his own person, had been a slave unto Pharaoh.” The way to do that in Baltimore in 1963, Lieberman said, was to fight “for the right of those who are still in the slavery of discrimination and degradation.”


Deeply moved by the sermon, my father, then not quite forty years old, went to see Lieberman in his office a few days later to ask him what he could do to act on the rabbi’s words.


“What do you mean what can you do?” Lieberman responded. “You’re a real estate broker. You’re more powerful than any priest or any rabbi. You can open up neighborhoods and make it possible for everybody to live wherever they want to live.”


Lieberman told my father that if he wanted to take action, he should advertise all of his prospective sales as open housing, available to buyers of any race. That, he said, would make a profound difference.


My father was taken aback. Since moving his family to Maryland fifteen years before, he had managed to build his thriving real estate office, Mal Sherman Inc., in part by selling houses to black families who were moving out of the city’s minority neighborhoods, which were full to bursting in the booming postwar years. After finding them homes in our old Jewish neighborhood, Dad would then sell new homes further north to the white families who had sold their homes to the black families.


The unwritten rules of the African American migration into new neighborhoods were strict, however. Any broker who sold a house in a white part of town to a minority courted animosity. Brokers who introduced African Americans to a street with the intention of panicking white families and flipping their houses were liable to be accused of “blockbusting.”


“If I do this,” my father told Rabbi Lieberman, “I’ll be run out of town.”


“Well, you asked what you could do,” the rabbi responded.


My father went home to talk with my mother. Though she too saw that it spelled financial ruin for them, my mother agreed that they needed to follow Lieberman’s call. Some of my father’s real estate colleagues counseled patience. The civil rights demonstrations like the one at Gwynn Oak Park were slowly turning the tide. Some activists were already agitating for open housing laws. Legislation would eventually come, and he would be better protected then, his friends told him.


But Dad was determined. The following month my father announced that Mal Sherman Inc. would, as company policy, sell to all individuals, regardless of race, creed, or color, as long as his agents could find an owner who would sell. Within six months, he had lost more than 60 percent of his listings.


It was not, to his surprise, our neighbors who stopped giving him their houses to sell—it was his competition, the dozen and more brokers whom he was beating month in and month out. “The brokers in the area proceeded to tell the marketplace that they ought not to do business with us,” Dad explained at a hearing of the US Commission on Civil Rights some years later. Home builders who had given Mal Sherman Inc. hundreds of listings in the real estate boom time stopped calling. Those in the industry who did call were phoning in their displeasure. I vividly remember picking up the phone at our house and hearing threats laced with racial epithets. In a time when riots were breaking out and bombs were going off all over the country, their angry threats to bomb our house seemed very real.


For a time, Dad was able to make up much of the lost revenue from referrals he got from civil rights groups. The local Congress of Racial Equality chapter and the NAACP sent him business, as did Baltimore Neighborhoods, an organization working to improve housing prospects for African Americans in the city. Some individual white homeowners called him offering to sell their homes to black buyers.


Soon his reputation for providing good homes for black families caught the attention of the local professional sports teams, all of whom asked him to find housing for their black stars. In the winter of 1966, the Cincinnati Reds traded Frank Robinson to the Baltimore Orioles. After learning that he was going to be moving to town, Robinson called my father. “I’m coming to play baseball for the Orioles this year,” Robinson told him. “We want to live in an all-white or mixed neighborhood. We want good schools and a safe neighborhood.” The only house Dad could find for Robinson that first year was in Ashburton, a relatively well-to-do but all-black neighborhood in northwest Baltimore.


That summer the Orioles won the World Series, and Robinson was named Most Valuable Player. The following spring, Robinson informed Frank Cashen, the general manager of the Orioles, that he would not come to training camp unless his family could live in an integrated neighborhood as he’d requested. Cashen called my father from Florida, yelling that he had to find a house for Robinson. My father finally found a suitable rental, after promising the neighbors signed baseballs and bats. Even at that, the owner of the house upped the rent to $500 a month, from $300.


My father’s business couldn’t survive on these special accommodations, however. He turned to land sales and insurance to make up what he had lost, but by 1968 his office had closed. We had already given up our spacious house in a Baltimore suburb for a smaller one in a less affluent neighborhood. But my parents never questioned their choice. Real change, they knew, almost always comes at a price.
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I’ve often wondered what gave my father and mother the courage to fight discrimination, knowing how much it would cost them. Nothing in Dad’s fractured early life provides many clues. His father, a wealthy Philadelphian named Abraham Silverman, committed suicide when Dad was only five years old. His mother reacted to her husband’s death by starting over, even changing the family name from Silverman to Sherman. She lived the high life in Manhattan and Paris. (My grandfather’s million-dollar life insurance policy did not exclude suicide.) She shipped my father and his older sister off to a Catholic boarding school in Lausanne, Switzerland. He returned when he was ten, finished high school at Horace Mann, a private high school in the Bronx, and after a year-plus at the University of North Carolina, enlisted in the Marines after Pearl Harbor.


Spirituality was certainly part of what inspired him. My father had come to Judaism late in life. He had been spurred to explore his faith by his marriage to my mother, Miriam, but he only really embraced it after the death of his sister, who, like their father, killed herself before reaching midlife. He came to regard Rabbi Lieberman, more than a decade older than he, as a father figure. Never having been bar mitzvahed, my father never felt fully accepted as a Jew. Nevertheless, he found serenity in the rituals of prayer, and I cherished sitting all day with him in High Holiday services.


Yet that wasn’t the whole answer. His conversion to civil rights activism had begun long before he met with Lieberman. As early as 1953, ten years before Lieberman issued his challenge, my father had fought the practice of blockbusting by trying to convince our white neighbors to accept his black clients. In 1960, he integrated his office, hiring a black agent, Lee Martin, straight out of nearby Morgan State University—tellingly, he was the only agent at the time who had a college education—and paying him $100 a week for six months until he could generate his own clients.


Though many factors contributed to my father’s extraordinary courage, I think that it was seeing combat that gave him his ideas about social justice. At the outbreak of the war, he enlisted in the Marines, no doubt a jarring change from his Swiss boarding school upbringing. He was sent to the Pacific, where he fought, and was wounded, in the Guadalcanal Campaign. He never spoke much about what had happened in the war—so few veterans did—but when he came back in 1945, he was dedicated to the cause of peace. When he was still an enlisted Marine, he was active in the founding of the American Veterans Committee, a liberal (and racially integrated) answer to the American Foreign Legion. With my mother, he attended the opening meetings of the United Nations in San Francisco as a delegate from the United Nations Veterans League, which he’d helped form, arguing that any organization that worked for peace needed to hear from those who had fought.


My father was hardly the only person to be radicalized for peace by the experience of war. John Kerry, my future boss at the State Department, was another. A lower-middle-class kid from Massachusetts, Kerry was sent to a tony New Hampshire boarding school by an aunt, then went on to Yale. After enlisting in the US Navy, he volunteered for the Swift Boat team that would take him into combat in Vietnam. He came out of the war dedicated to a life of service and the pursuit of peace. The first time John Kerry was in a Senate hearing room was when he testified, wearing his military fatigues, before the Foreign Relations Committee about the protests of his group, Vietnam Veterans Against the War, with Senator William Fulbright providing the questions. Kerry challenged the committee to think about war, not in terms of patriotic abstractions, but in terms of the people on the ground. “Each day, to facilitate the process by which the United States washes her hands of Vietnam,” the young Lieutenant Kerry said, “someone has to give up his life so that the United States doesn’t have to admit something that the entire world already knows, so that we can’t say that we have made a mistake.… We are asking Americans to think about that because how do you ask a man to be the last man to die in Vietnam? How do you ask a man to be the last man to die for a mistake?”


I believe my father would have chosen a similar course if he’d been of Kerry’s generation—that he would have elevated his activism to a campaign for elected office where he could do the most good. But my father lived through a different war and a different homecoming. Like many of his fellow World War II vets, my father yearned for a normal life of family and work. He chose the life of a salesman. In San Francisco, where he had recovered from his war wounds, he took a sales job with the California vintner Paul Masson. When my parents, with my sister in their arms and me on the way, moved to Maryland in 1949 to be closer to my mother’s family, my father asked his uncle, a successful stockbroker, which field he thought my father should go into. Seeing all the GIs returning from the war, his uncle suggested that he sell either insurance or real estate.


My father was wonderfully suited to finding people homes. He was warm, with a wide smile under expressive eyes, and he was partial to colorful bow ties—the MAL SHERMAN REALTOR sign outside his office in Baltimore was in the shape of a formal white bow. At its peak in the mid-1950s, the office employed as many as twenty busy agents as Baltimore’s suburban areas boomed.


But my father’s true talent as a salesman was his ability to imagine possibilities—to see a house’s potential as a home, or a new development’s promise as a real neighborhood. That same imagination allowed him to see the world as other than it was, and how it could be better, more equal, more fair. That is what drove him to change his corner of Baltimore, and through it, the world. He and my mother taught me that when we’re faced with adversity and stubborn history, having the courage to stick to our vision can see us through to a good and right end.


My father saw the possibilities in his children as well. “You could be the first woman senator from the state of Maryland,” he used to say to me when I was young. I’ve realized that the life of service and policymaking he envisioned for me was really the one he had imagined for himself.


If he passed his dreams down to his children, he made sure to also pass along his courage—not by lecturing us but by example. When I was about fifteen, my father took me along to an appearance by Lena Horne at Coppin State College, a historically black college in Baltimore. Horne hadn’t come to Coppin State to perform. A decade earlier, during the McCarthy era, the singer and actress had been blacklisted by the major movie studios for her ties to Paul Robeson and other Communist Party members. By the time my father and I went to see her, she’d fought her way back into Hollywood’s good graces, but the studios hadn’t succeeded in quieting her support for civil rights or her protests against the industry’s legacy of discrimination.


My father and I squeezed into a crowded meeting room. The mood was electric, and to me frightening. We were the only white people in the room, or so it seemed to me then. Sheltered in my white, Jewish community, I had never felt what it meant to be the outsider, the “other.” Yes, I was Jewish, and once, on a cross-country driving trip, my family had been told that no rooms were available at a hotel where there were clearly some vacancies, but we kids hardly noticed. I considered myself part of America’s white majority, one of those whose behavior was at issue that night.


As disorienting as it was, that evening introduced me to something big and visceral and strange. I could feel how a person who is ready to take on the challenge could be swept up by the fight for what’s right, for a better future. My father had a passion for justice that was rebellious, even a bit reckless. Beneath the real estate salesman’s dapper, reassuring exterior, Dad harbored a single-minded will to change what he saw around him and to connect with those who thought the same way. He had felt a kinship his whole life with those who spoke out or stood up for what was right. He had needed Rabbi Lieberman to give him license, to vault him into a life where he would risk much and ignore the economic costs of following his beliefs. This sense of civic or even religious duty can’t be instilled in a person by reading or thinking. It’s something that happens to you. Dad was trying to spark it in me.


I’ve never been the reckless type. As a kid, I devoured biographies of great women leaders like Joan of Arc, Harriet Tubman, and Florence Nightingale, and I even drew inspiration from Nancy Drew, the fictional girl detective. Looking back, what impressed me about these women was that they wouldn’t be deterred. Similarly, my father’s courage comes out in me in a very directed, disciplined form. My brand of courage lies in being able to back up my vision with discrete goals and drive myself toward them, inspiring others to follow me.


Men and women of character find their courage in the times they live in. Dad found it in the civil rights struggle in Baltimore. Barack Obama found his way into public service after serving as a community organizer in Chicago. Barbara Mikulski, another community organizer, brought African Americans and white working-class citizens together to stop a six-lane highway from destroying their east Baltimore neighborhoods. From there she garnered a seat on the city council and ultimately was elected a US senator. My times, I thought, demanded someone different who could block out the noise of detractors and doubters and make a deal that few had the courage to imagine could actually happen. I keep everyone focused on the possibility of getting to success. What I took from my father’s courage was the fortitude to get through the darkest hour—to make it to the end of a trying week, whether beset by crisis or suffering the most mundane tedium, knowing sometimes the best one can do is to make it to the end of the day.
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In politics, as in our personal lives, what often takes the most courage is to change a relationship that is frozen, damaged by past events. Both parties may want to reconcile, but neither is able to take the first step. To open yourself to reconciliation is to be vulnerable. The recent history of relations between the United States and Cuba is a good case study of how to change a frozen relationship.


In early 1993, I joined the State Department for the first time as assistant secretary of state for legislative affairs. Working under Secretary of State Warren Christopher, I represented the State Department on Capitol Hill, pushing the administration’s agenda in front of the foreign relations committees and defending our budgets to Appropriations.


Not long after I started, what had been a simmering problem of Cuban refugees crossing to Florida in rickety rafts came to a head: by July 1994, what had been a trickle of émigrés—a few hundred a year—had steadily grown to a constant stream of some five hundred rafters a month. In August, Fidel Castro, who saw the outflow as a way to put pressure on the United States for its decades-long trade embargo, announced that he would no longer make any move to stop people from leaving. Suddenly more than thirty-five thousand Cubans were headed for Miami’s beaches from all over Cuba, and the US Coast Guard was left to avert a humanitarian disaster on its own.


Most of those plucked out of the sea were being held at Guantánamo on the southern coast of Cuba, then a US Marine base, not the infamous prison it would become after 9/11. There, thousands awaited asylum decisions. Out in the Florida Straits, meanwhile, boats were sinking. People were dying. In the spring of 1995, Senator Bob Graham of Florida visited Guantánamo and on his return went to the Oval Office to warn President Bill Clinton that the overcrowded facilities there were about to boil over.


President Clinton had come into office wanting to find a way to move our Cuba policy forward. The trade embargo, when first instituted by a series of executive orders in the early 1960s, was designed to pressure the young Castro government to compensate business owners for the companies he’d nationalized since coming to power and to urge the regime toward democracy. Fifty years later, Cuba showed no sign of complying, nor had depriving the Cuban people of access to the American economy caused the Castro regime to blink, much less fail. For most of its tenure, the embargo had only justified Fidel Castro’s continuing dictatorship, passed off as a revolutionary stance with the United States in the role of imperialist aggressor. “Anybody with half a brain could tell the embargo was counterproductive,” President Clinton told historian Taylor Branch in the fall of 1995 in an interview that appeared in Branch’s book The Clinton Tapes.


To the president, the refugee crisis represented an opportunity to work with the Cubans to coordinate our responses and perhaps a chance at a wider dialogue. In the short term, improved relations could give poor Cubans fewer reasons to abandon their homes to head for American shores. In the long run, it could lead to broader diplomatic discussions with the government.


It’s difficult at this remove to appreciate how much political courage it took for President Clinton to reach out to Castro. Shaking up a long-standing policy, even an unproductive one, always makes the public uneasy, but any effort at relaxing tensions with the Castro regime was guaranteed to anger Cuban Americans in particular. These were the people whose families’ property Castro had expropriated in the revolution, and they were deeply committed to a full-on embargo. They were also extremely powerful as voting blocs in south Florida and New Jersey.


The sensitivity of the Cuban community is an example of why a president normally saves foreign policy shake-ups for the second term, when he (or someday she) no longer risks paying a penalty at the voting booth. At the time President Clinton began his initiative, he had been president for less than half of his first term.


Nevertheless, Clinton quietly opened negotiations with Cuba, sending a top State Department official to meet with a member of Castro’s Kitchen Cabinet, first in New York and later in a bar in Toronto. A month later, in May 1995, the president announced the fruits of the talks. As a concession, the United States would no longer grant automatic asylum to refugees from Cuba. Those at Guantánamo would be admitted over a period of three months, but any future refugees would be dealt with according to what became known as the “wet foot/dry foot” policy—if they were caught at sea, the Coast Guard would usher them back to Cuba; those who were able to make landfall on US territory would be allowed to stay.


Republicans in Congress responded quickly and harshly, showing exactly why upsetting the status quo requires courage. “It’s time to tighten the screws,” declared Senator Jesse Helms, a North Carolina Republican. With Indiana representative Dan Burton, Helms proposed a bill that would reinforce the embargo. For the first time, countries besides the United States and Cuba would be pushed to comply with our embargo, as Helms-Burton would put sanctions on any company, even a foreign one, that did business with Cuban firms.


As the State Department’s representative on the Hill, I spent that fall arguing that the Helms-Burton bill was a bad idea. It wasn’t a difficult argument. As a purely political gesture, it would backfire, since it would call more attention to a policy that was being blamed for deaths at sea. Substantively, it would be worse, rankling our friends abroad. For instance, we would be required to penalize Canada for its centuries-long habit of buying Cuban sugar.


Helms-Burton passed the Senate but failed to gain traction in the House. We had won the round.


Four months later, the president’s fledgling Cuba policy was shot down out of a blue sky. Since 1991, an organization called Brothers to the Rescue had been flying over the Florida Straits to search for refugees afloat. When they spotted a raft, the Brothers pilots would alert the Coast Guard to the boat’s whereabouts. The Brothers had other concerns besides the refugees’ safety: their flights were directly aimed at promoting the flow of Cubans to Guantánamo and the States.


Emboldened by the heightened air of crisis and Clinton’s outreach to Cuba, the Brothers expanded their missions and began to stray into the airspace over Havana. When they met no resistance, they returned to drop leaflets advocating further ties with the United States. The Cuban government registered its complaints each time, but the White House seemed powerless to stop the overflights.


In February 1996, a Cuban MIG-29 shot down two of the Brothers’ Cessnas. Clinton’s diplomatic effort was at an end. The president had no choice but to demand a UN resolution condemning what the Cubans had done. He tightened restrictions on flights to Cuba and hemmed in Cuba’s diplomats in New York.


To say that Helms-Burton was suddenly reborn is an understatement. When news of the shoot-down broke in Washington, I happened to be at a routine hearing before the House Foreign Affairs Committee. In almost real time, I went from arguing against the need for the legislation to accepting it as a fait accompli.


Given the advantage, Congress added a twist to the knife. The embargo, which for fifty years had been primarily left to the White House to plan and execute, would now be enshrined in Helms-Burton as law, giving Congress unprecedented control. We tried to argue that this amendment would interfere with the president’s constitutional right to run the country’s foreign affairs, but the fix was in. Helms-Burton was now the law of the land.


The Cuban refugee crisis would have one more chapter, written five years after Helms-Burton went into effect. It would only exacerbate tensions over the plight of the Cubans.


In November 1999, a six-year-old boy named Elián González was found floating in an inner tube off the coast of Florida. He and his mother had been on their way from Cuba when their aluminum boat sank. Elián’s mother and ten others had drowned. Under normal circumstances, the boy, not having reached land, would have been returned to Cuba, where his father still lived. Elián had the further bad luck, however, to become stranded over Thanksgiving weekend. When the Coast Guard picked up the boy and, following protocol, put in a call to a State Department duty officer to start the process of returning him, nobody picked up the phone immediately.


A few months before, my friend Madeleine Albright, who had been named secretary of state in Clinton’s second term, had asked me to return to State as her counselor. As part of that portfolio, she had assigned me to pick up the quiet but well-established channel to the Cuban government.


Thanksgiving is my favorite holiday, and as often as I could I played host at my house in the Washington suburbs. Traditionally, family arrived on Wednesday night to bake pies. Thursday morning I’d get up early to make stuffing, prepare the turkey, and get it in the oven. Friday was an outing for the women to a local clothing outlet and meals of leftovers.


Amid this delicious chaos, my phone rang. It was the State Department operations center, calling to tell me that a young Cuban had been brought into Florida, his mother having drowned at sea. I quickly put a conference call together of all relevant actors, from the Coast Guard to the assistant secretary for Western Hemisphere affairs to immigration authorities.


But it was too late. Elián was already on land, and under the wet foot/dry foot policy, he had the right to stay. The boy was quickly turned into a political football. Elián’s father back in Havana wanted him home, but his émigré relatives in Miami—led by his paternal great-uncle, who had been expecting him and his mother—did not want him returned to the Communist nation. Many Cuban Americans were in an uproar, insisting that democracy, not communism, was best for Elián.


The arguments and court reviews went on for months, involving Attorney General Janet Reno; Elián’s uncle, a US resident who took custody of the poor kid; his two Cuban grandmothers, who came to the United States to plead for his return; and a federal judge, who granted a stay while Elián’s relatives applied for asylum. In the end, Reno decided that Elián should go home, and federal agents in camouflage were photographed storming the Miami home of his relatives. Shortly afterward, another court proceeding determined that he was too young to apply for asylum himself, and his father was unwilling to apply on his behalf. On June 28, 2000, more than seven months after his boat sank, Elián left for Havana. US-Cuban relations were frozen again.


At a key point in the six months of Elián’s travails, I spoke with Ricardo Alarcón, the head of Cuba’s National Assembly and part of the country’s senior leadership. Alarcón and I had met just once, for a get-acquainted meeting in a restaurant near the East River in New York—Cuban officials could only enter the United States for United Nations functions, and then they had to stay within twenty-five miles of the UN headquarters. That day we talked about the US-Cuba relationship and what the future might hold, and Alarcón gave me his personal phone number. I never thought I would have occasion to use it.


President Clinton could have at any point made political hay with the Cuban exile community by publicly urging asylum for Elián, although the decision rested with the Department of Justice and the courts. But undoubtedly influenced by First Lady Hillary Clinton, a longtime children’s advocate, the president courageously affirmed that it would be in the “best interests of the child” to be returned home. I knew that the president was right—if Elián and his father had been in America, his return would have been an open-and-shut case.
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It might be surmised from the history of President Clinton’s Cuba policy that courage is never rewarded in politics, but it’s more complicated than that. The lesson is the same one my father learned when trying to integrate Baltimore neighborhoods: one courageous gesture is rarely enough. Having begun to make a change, we are usually rewarded by being asked to take further risks until the job is done.


When President Barack Obama came into office, he also looked for a window to change Cuba policy, but with the Great Recession and his ambitious health-care bill to deal with, he knew it would have to wait for a second term.


Soon after his second inaugural, Obama set his own secret talks in motion. Obama asked his deputy national security adviser, Ben Rhodes, and the National Security Council’s Latin American director, Ricardo Zuniga, who had served in the US interest section in Havana, to conduct the talks, which would be held in Canada. Obama believed that it was important to signal to the Cubans that the plan had close presidential support, so he kept the negotiations privy to only a very small group of White House staff, much to the dismay of the State Department.


Originally, the focus of discussion was on Alan Gross, an American who had been held in a Cuban military prison for five years. Gross had gone to Cuba as a contractor for the US Agency for International Development (USAID), an agency that promotes development around the globe. Gross’s planned project was to help get members of the Jewish community in Cuba online, and he had brought with him several servers and other computer equipment. The Cubans had accused him of being a spy.


Just sixty years old at the start of his ordeal, Gross looked much older than sixty-five by the time Obama sent Rhodes and Zuniga to meet with the Cubans. He had shed a scary amount of weight in hunger strikes protesting his detainment, and illness had cost him some of his teeth. Over the years of his detention, Judy Gross, Alan’s indomitable wife, tried to be understanding about the limits of what his government could do, but meetings with her were extremely wrenching. How do you not cry, and even rage, when your husband is not there for weddings or illness or graduations, let alone daily life?


When the talks began in Ottawa in the summer of 2013, the Cubans surprised Obama’s emissaries by wanting to discuss more than Alan Gross. They expanded the topics on the table to include their entire diplomatic relationship with the United States. This unexpected opening asked the president to take a much bigger risk than making a swap for a US contractor who had been accused of being a spy. A narrow deal to free Alan Gross would be roundly applauded at home; a broader deal would not only bring the usual objections from the Cuban community but tie Obama to a regime in whom we Americans had little trust. Egged on by the pope, who hosted a round of talks in Rome, and with support from some courageous members of Congress, the discussions continued for eighteen months. In December 2014, President Obama announced that Alan Gross was coming home, and named Roberta Jacobson at State as Assistant Secretary for Western Hemisphere Affairs to negotiate the normalization of diplomatic relations with Cuba.


The embargo would remain in effect, but commercial flights were regularized, travel was made easier, and remittances back to families in Cuba were allowed to increase. An embassy was opened in both capitals, and trade was increased. Obama’s words said it all: “Change is hard, in our own lives and in the lives of nations, and change is even harder when we carry the heavy weight of history on our shoulders. But today, we are making these changes because it is the right thing to do.”
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Perhaps no relationship with any country has been as frozen as that between the United States and Iran, and our leaders have struggled for decades with even deciding whether to find the right path forward.


Many Americans first became conscious of Iran when supporters of the Muslim cleric Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini overthrew the Shah of Iran. In November 1979, a group of Iranian university students, devout followers of Khomeini, occupied the US embassy in Tehran, taking fifty-two Americans hostage.


The embassy’s occupiers objected to our country’s long support for the Shah of Iran, who had modernized Iran’s economy in the 1950s and ’60s and secularized its Islamic culture, but who had also ruled with an iron fist. To these radical students, the United States was not an ally but a colonial power, one that had helped Great Britain regain control of the Iranian oil fields in 1953 by engineering a coup against the Iranian prime minister Mohammad Mossadegh, who had threatened to nationalize them. For the next year and seventy-nine days, Americans raptly followed the fate of the embassy personnel—the long-running ABC news program Nightline began as a nightly update on the crisis. As a turning point in American awareness of and opinion about the Middle East, the Iran hostage crisis is outdone only by the 9/11 attacks. When President Jimmy Carter’s attempt to free the hostages with a military rescue mission failed, it seemed to expose America’s post-Vietnam impotence and helped decide the 1980 presidential election, in which Jimmy Carter lost to Ronald Reagan.


The revolution also caught our attention at the gas pump. Iranian oil production slowed during the revolution, sending gasoline prices soaring and creating lines at gas stations reminiscent of the oil shortages suffered five years earlier. In retaliation, President Carter declared an embargo on Iranian oil. We froze Iranian bank accounts and, under Reagan, stopped trade with Iran altogether.
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